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Summary Description

The Harshbarger House is a two-story dwelling consisting of a late-eighteenth-century, stone, one-room section
with an early-nineteenth-century brick addition. A contemporary semi-detached, one-story, brick kitchen wing
to the north was originally connected to the house by a breezeway that was later replaced by a frame hyphen.
The house stands today on a lot near modern commercial buildings and parking lots, but faces the largely
undeveloped old Hershberger Road, and is screened from the development to the rear by plantings.

Architectural Analysis

The stone section of the Harshbarger House was constructed in 1797 on the north side of Carvin Creek near
its confluence with Tinker Creek. The site was originally located in that portion of southern Botetourt County
that was incorporated into Roanoke County in 1838. It was annexed by the city of Roanoke in 1949 and now
lies in a commercial and industrial area. A loop of the old Hershberger Road (an alternate spelling of
Harshbarger) runs immediately to the south of the house, retaining the appearance and feeling of a narrow
country road, while a widened section of the road passes to the north. The site, consisting of two acres, is large

enough to convey a sense of the original open setting.

The two-story stone section of the house was constructed in 1797 for Samuel Harshbarger. The two-bay gabled
dwelling has a single room on the ground floor. A square, partially-exterior, stone chimney originally rose
on the east end but has been obscured by the added brick section below the roofline. A window is centered
in each floor in the west gable end. Entry to the house was gained through a door in the west bay of the north
front. The coursed limestone rubble walls are finished with a buttered mortar joint that was recently restored.

The walls were originally crowned by a box cornice built around a large beam supported by the projecting ends
of the garret floor joists. The box comnice trim elements were decayed at the time of the restoration and have
not been restored to date, but the beam and the projecting joist ends remain. The box cornice apparently
continued across the west end of the house as well, creating the effect of a pediment on that gable end.

Projecting wooden elements remain at this location.

The window and door openings on the first floor and the second floor west end display splayed stone jack
arches, while the remaining second-floor windows have no arches or visible lintels, with two courses of stone
above them on the exterior and a concealed timber lintel on the interior, The windows and door have
mortise-and-tenoned timber frames and sills with a simple bead and a quarter-round backhand. The garret is
lit by a small square casement window in the center of the west gable. Immediately above is a small, inset,
square, stone plaque inscribed SHB 1797, The windows throughout retain early iron pintles for now-vanished
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blinds. The north window is shorter than the south or west windows on the first floor, but in an unusual
adaptation for the sake of regularity, takes its height from that of the adjacent door. The stone section is now
roofed with wood shingles but was most recently covered with standing-seam metal.

The interior of the stone section features slightly splayed window openings with flush wooden jambs and narrow
molded trim around the openings. A plain beaded chair rail forms the sill and stool of the windows. An
enclosed stair rises in the northwest cormer from beside the door to end over the west end window. The stair
is enclosed with beaded vertical boards, but the original door is missing, as is the door of a low closet below
the stair. The fireplace projects into the room on the east wall. The firebox is arched with stone voussoirs and
is surrounded by a molded architrave with a high shelf above a double row of raised panels.

There is a built-in press in the alcove to the north side of the chimney breast. The opening is filled with a pair
of glass doors above and a pair of panel doors below and surrounded by molded architrave trim. A deep

molded cornice tops the press, ornamented with dentils.

A deep summer beam is bedded in the chimney breast and spans the room from east to west. The beam is
omamented with half-round beads on both edges of the bottom face. Joists are mortised into the upper haif of
the summer beam and are decorated with three-quarter-round edge beads on the lower corners. There is no

cellar below.

The second-floor interior does not have a fireplace. The chimney rises on the east wall. A simple beaded base
and chair rail surround the room. Window trim consists of a narrow quarter-round molding, The room is
separated from a passage at the west end by a beaded board partition that was possibly added in the early
nineteenth century when additions made by Samuel Harshbarger made it possible to create such circulation
spaces. It is possible that the very small space was used as a sleeping room. The second floor has exposed
joists with quarter-round corner moldings. Above is a common rafter roof with coilar beams and lapped and

pegged joints.

The stair rises in the center of the west wall, with a plain balustrade consisting of a rounded railing and square
balusters. An early stair rises to the garret in the northwest corner. It is enclosed with plain tongue-and-groove
boards and whitewashed on the originally exposed undersides of the treads. The stair door is missing. There
is no plaster behind the stringer, indicating that either the interior plaster was added later than the stair, or that
the stair is original to the house despite its difference in form and materials from the stair below.

In about 1825 a brick, three-bay, two-story addition was made by Samuel Harshbarger to the east end of the

stone section. It was slightly higher in elevation, and the first-floor level was about 1 1/2 feet higher than that
of the stone section. The new section, built entirely in Flemish bond, faced in the opposite direction from the
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stone section, effectively relegating the stone section to a secondary position. The addition, related in form and
plan to regional houses of log, frame, and masonry during this period, features a symmetrically arranged facade
and a hall-parior plan. The early-twentieth-century brick Bungalow-style porch which sheltered the lower story
of the south front has been recently removed. The foundation is of coursed limestone rubble.

The center door head on the south front is lower than the heads of the flanking windows. Both the first- and
second-story windows have six-over-six double-hung sashes with ungauged splayed jack arches and
mortise-and-tenoned frames with molded backhands. There is no evidence of pintles for blinds. The sashes
throughout the entire house were damaged or missing and have been replaced. The north facade is nearly
identical to the south, except for the absence of the second-floor center window. The south and north fronts
are topped by a molded brick cornice with a cyma recta shape. The door openings have stone sills. The
exterior doors are not extant, but have been recently supplied with old panel doors.

The brick section is built with four independent wails rather than being built with three walls butted to the stone
section. The east end features a partially exterior chimney with stepped shoulders at the second-floor window
head level. Garret casements flank the chimney. The rake boards were recently replaced, and a new

standing-seam metal roof replaced the former similar roof.

To the north of the brick section stands an originally semidetached, brick, one-story, one-room kitchen. The
kitchen, which had been damaged by neglect more than the main house, features a recently restored off-center
window on the east side where there had been a door in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries. Doors are
located in the west and south walls. A large, fully exterior brick chimney rises at the north end, flanked by
unusual, small, square, attic vent holes. The molded brick cornice is identical to that of the main house.

A two-story, late-nineteenth-century, north addition to the main house once filled the space between the kitchen
and the house and extended across the north side of the stone section. That addition was recently demolished,
and the ghost of the early breezeway roof connecting the kitchen with the main house was fully revealed on the
north wall of the house. The roof was apparently a continuation of the kitchen roof and sheltered the door and
west window of the first floor of the brick section. The interior of the kitchen was largely destroyed and was
partially restored in the recent repair work. The work includes new exposed ceiling joists, a rebuilt
segmental-arched cooking fireplace modeled on the original, and a frame addition that fills the space between

the kitchen and the house and contains a new bathroom.

The interior of the brick section of the main house is divided into two parts on the first floor, in the form of
a hall-parlor-plan dwelling. The stone and brick sections are connected by an early doorway on the south side
of the original chimney. The north and south doors now give access into the west room, but evidence indicates
that the partition between the east and west rooms has been relocated. Ghosts and nail holes on the ceiling
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joists just to the west of the doors indicate that the partition was located west of the doors. In this arrangement
the principal room in the brick section would have been the larger east room,

The present partition is built of the apparently reused early beaded board partition covered with plaster. It was
probably moved in the mid- to late nineteenth century or later. The stair on the west side of the partition
features turned balusters and an early-twentieth-century paneled newel. The skirt is faced with long vertical
panels and conceals a closet. The door opening in the partition is surrounded by a mid- to late-
nineteenth-century beveled architrave, but contains a reused door similar to others in the section. The doors
are unusual in that they feature a flat five-panel arrangement with the single horizontal panel at the top.

The trim in the first floor consists of a simple beaded base and chair rail, and window and door trim with a
cyma reversa molded architrave. The exposed joists show traces of whitewash and a later plaster ceiling
(recently removed) and have cyma moldings on the edges. The east fireplace was narrowed in the mid-twentieth
century, and little remained of the brickwork above the opening. The fireplace has been restored, and the
original mantel features a reeded frame with carved sunburst comer blocks surrounded by a molded architrave.
A molded shelf above is carried on a frieze ornamented with a reeded center block and reeded inset end blocks

in the form of triglyphs. The inner opening is segmentally arched.

The location of the brick wing was previously occupied by a one-story frame addition. The chimney between
the brick and stone sections clearly served the earlier frame wing. The stone opening, now located in the west
room of the brick wing, was made smaller when the brick addition was made by inserting bricks and adding
a mantel. The inserted bricks and the mantel have been removed, revealing a very large opening with a timber
lintef. The large lintel was cut and infilled with brick at an early date. The entire arrangement, including the
relatively small size of the fireplace in the adjoining stone room, suggests that this fireplace was the one used

for cooking in 1797 or soon after,

The second floor features a similar plan to that of the original first-floor plan. A beaded board partition once
divided the second floor into two rooms just west of the center window on the south front. Evidence on the
joist at this point indicates that the north two-thirds of the wall was relocated several feet to the east when the
present stair was added. Early door locations are found at both ends of the partition; the north opening
connected the two rooms and the south opening apparently gave access to the now vanished garret stair which
would have risen above the early stair from the first floor. There is a header where this stair would have ended
in the same location in each floor’s ceiling structural system, including that of the basement. The later stair
from the first floor was enclosed on the east by a plastered stud partition.

The exposed joists above have cyma moidings on the comers. There is no fireplace in the west room. The
off-center fireplace in the east room is small and segmentally arched. It was rebuilt in the same form in the



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No. 1024-0018

{8-86)
United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section 1 Page 5 Harshbarger House
Roanoke County, Virginia

recent restoration. The simple shelf-and-architrave mantel has a segmentally arched inner opening and a high,
deeply molded shelf supported by a frieze decorated with inset grooved end blocks and a grooved center block
that resemble triglyphs, Both rooms feature intermittent sections of edge-beaded pinrailing with
regularly-spaced turned wooden pins. A section of similar beaded board forming an upside-down T shape is
located on the wall to the south of the east mantel and was presumably used for hanging a mirror or attaching

some other portable element.

The garret is unfinished and features a common rafter roof structure with collar beams attached to every other
pair of rafters and lapped and pegged joints. The basement is reached down an exterior set of steps located
under a modern bulkhead below the east window on the north side of the brick section. The stone-walled cellar
has a low ceiling and high vents on the south and east walls. There are several low alcoves in the stone walls,
one below the east fireplace on the first floor and another in the south wall, presumably used for storage in what
was apparently a food storage cellar. The earth floor steps up near the west end of the brick section, forming
a deep shelf surrounding the base of the chimney. The walls and the peeled log joists above are whitewashed.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Harshbarger House is significant in local architectural history as a well-preserved example of a rare
one-room-pian stone house that was built in 1797 by Samuel Harshbarger, a son of German immigrants, who
came from Pennsylvania to settle in the Roancke Valley during the late eighteenth century. Later enlarged with
a Flemish-bond brick addition constructed around 1825, the house’s evolutionary character illustrates the
response of its owner to the economic and architectural changes and tastes of the early nineteenth century. One
of the area’s earliest documented dwellings, the Harshbarger House is also significant for its connection with
German immigrants who settled in the Upper Shenandoah Valley during the eighteenth century. The use of
stone in the original house suggests a German-influenced building tradition that has rarely survived in

eighteenth-century houses of the area.

HISTORIC CONTEXT

Samuel Harshbarger (born 1759), who is credited with building the Harshbarger House, came from
Pennsylvania as part of a group of Swiss or German Brethren or Dunkards. His father and mother,Jacob and
Marie Harshbarger, are said to have fled Basel, Switzerland, for Holland because of religious persecution, and
to have left Holland in 1754 for Pennsylvania.! The immigrants purchased land patented earlier, in the 1750s
and 1760s, by Scotch-Irish and English settlers. They settled in the northern Roanoke Valley, in what was then
Botetourt County, on the upper reaches of Peters Creek as well as Carvins and Masons creeks.> The settlers
and their families continued to intermarry within the culturaily-related group. Many of the settlers built large

stone or log dwellings within a few years of their arrival.

Samuel Harshbarger brought with him his mother and his wife, Elizabeth Gish, and followed his brother
Christian, who settled several miles to the north at Amsterdam, near the center of the Brethren community.
Harshbarger purchased 504 acres at the point where Carvins Creek entered Tinker Creek in 1793. He received
the land from Francis Graham, who had purchased 364 acres from his father William, adding an additional 140
acres at the southern end. Most of the desirable tract had been originally patented by John Mills in 1752.7

The house on Samuel Harshbarger’s land was built in 1797, as is recorded on a tablet inscribed "SHB/1797"
in the west gable. The house faced his land to the north and backed up on Carvins Creek. The house may have
been built with a one-story kitchen wing on the east end, as is suggested by the architectural evidence.

Traditional sources say a three-room frame section was added to the house by Harshbarger and was later
replaced by a brick wing in 1825, in order to alleviate overcrowding.* The house is said to have contained
ten persons, Samuel and Elizabeth Harshbarger, his mother, their six children, and a black nurse.’ In the
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census of 1810 Samuel is shown with a household of eight; in 1820, nine; and in 1830, oniy two, himself and
his wife. The addition of 1825 incorporates planning and formal elements more typical of regional architecture
at large than the earlier stone section, and may indicate a less insular Brethren community,

The two-part dwelling, composed of a main house and frame wing, recalls a number of slightly later houses
found along Lapsleys Run and Pattersons Creek in northern Botetourt County. These log dwellings were built
by German and Swiss settlers, and are one- or two-story houses with added or integral one-story kitchen wings
that often share a chimney. Examples include the John Barger (IIT) House, reconstructed at the Museum of

American Frontier culture in Staunton, Virginia.®

The house is one of a larger group of stone and log buildings in western Virginia built for and by persons with
continental European origin or ancestry. The three-room house plan has been associated with German and
Swiss settlers by some architectural historians.” The Harshbarger House has the two-bay asymmetrical facade
and the stone building material often associated with these dwellings, but it has a more modest floor plan. The
one-room plan is normally identified with small log dwellings, and is unknown in association with stone within
the immediate region. Other stone houses in southern Botetourt County, including Stonelea, built for Edward
Mitchell in the early 1820s, and the Bryan McDonald, Jr., House, built in 1768, are much larger
hail-parlor-plan dwelilings. Harshbarger’s neighbors, Frederick Garst and Dunkard minister William Stover,
built substantial log and stone dwellings that are now gone. A photograph of Garst’s "Fort" shows a large
two-story structure suggesting by its form elements of Continental-derived plan and details.®

Harshbarger built a nearby stone mill that was destroyed in 1877. His son Jacob settled nearby on Tinker Creek
soon after his marriage, building a now-vanished brick house and mill. The principal early road in the area
of the house was known as the Carolina Road; it connected Pennsylvania through the Shenandoah Valley to
North Carolina. It passed the Harshbarger tract a short distance to the east of Tinker Creek. The road going
past both mills is said to have been created by Samuel Harshbarger to give access to the mills and provide a
route between the Carolina Road and the Wilderness Road or Great Road which led west into Kentucky.”

According to family tradition, the Harshbargers were rigorous in their use of German ethnic customs and
language. Family descendants are fortunate to have preserved a remarkable amount of material about Samuel
Harshbarger and his relations. According to tradition, Harshbarger was deeply prejudiced against
English-speaking people and their language, and against all religions other than the Brethren. He retained all
the beliefs and practices of a European peasant, including planting by the signs of the Zodiac.'® The
Harshbargers, as Brethren, were opposed to slavery on principle. Fearing he would be unable to compete any
longer with slave labor in the Roanoke Valley, Jacob Harshbarger (Samuel’s son) sold his property in 1831 and
moved to [ndiana. His father eventually followed him, selling his land to John Jeffries in 1837. He died in
Indiana in 1849. The mill and house were later owned by John Richardson, who bought the property in 1866."!
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The property was owned by several families after Richardson, including the Stone family, who were the latest
former owners. Few damaging changes have been made to the house, although it suffered from neglect for
many years during the mid-twentieth century until it was purchased by the present owners, Delores and Edward
Truett, in 1989. They have carefully restored the house, saving all significant elements of the fabric, rebuilt
the kitchen wing, and added new services in the modern hyphen connecting the kitchen to the main house.
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Verbal Boundary Description
The boundaries of the property correspond to tract # 38.16-1-6 as recorded on the tax maps of Roanoke County, Virginia.

Boundary Justification

The boundaries were selected to enclose the Harshbarger House and its immediate domestic-related space as defined by the present
property lines.
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